SUPREME COURT COPY

S183320

SUPREME COURT FILED

SUPREME COURT	NO

JUN 0 7 2010

IN THE CURRENCE COURT OF THE CTATE OF CALLEORNIA	
IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA	
Fredorist	
Frederick K. (Oblinch Class
	zimich Clerk

			Deputy
In re K. C.,)	COURT OF APPEAL	
)	NO. F058395	
A Person Coming Under)		
The Juvenile Court Law.)	JUVENILE	
)	NO. 08JD0075	
KINGS COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF			
HUMAN SERVICES,)		
Plaintiff and Respondent,)		
•)		
v.)		
)		
JOHN C.,)		
Objector and Appellant.)		
, , ,)		
	_		

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF KINGS

HONORABLE GEORGE L. ORNDOFF, JUDGE

ISSUES PRESENTED
NECESSITY FOR REVIEW
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS AND THE CASE
REVIEW IS NEEDED TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION
REGARDING THE SCOPE OF THE SHOWING REQUIRED FOR
A PARENT TO ASSERT HIS INTEREST IN CHALLENGING
THE DENIAL OF RELATIVE PLACEMENT WHERE THE
PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING IS PENDING 6

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases

Ajida Technologies, Inc. v. Roos Instruments, Inc. (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 534
Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Assn. v. City of La Habra (2001) 25 Cal.4th 809
<i>In re Carrisa G.</i> (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 731
<i>In re Esperanza C.</i> (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1042
<i>In re H.G.</i> (2006) 146 Cal.App.4th 1
<i>In re Joseph T.</i> (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 787
In re Valerie A. (2007) 152 Cal. App. 4th 987
Lee v. Brown (1976) 18 Cal.3d 110
People v. Davis (1905) 147 Cal. 346
Rules
California Rules of Court
rule 8.500(b)(1)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In re K. C.,)	COURT OF APPEAL
)	NO. F058395
A Person Coming Under)	
The Juvenile Court Law.)	JUVENILE
)	NO. 08JD0075
KINGS COUNTY DEPARTMENT OF)	
HUMAN SERVICES,)	
Plaintiff and Respondent,)	
)	
v.)	
)	
JOHN C.,)	
Objector and Appellant.)	
)	

APPEAL FROM THE JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR THE COUNTY OF KINGS

HONORABLE GEORGE L. ORNDOFF, JUDGE

PETITION FOR REVIEW AFTER THE PUBLISHED OPINION OF THE COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH APPELLATE DISTRICT

TO THE HONORABLE RONALD M. GEORGE, CHIEF JUSTICE, AND TO THE HONORABLE ASSOCIATE JUSTICES OF THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA:

John C., father and appellant, respectfully petitions for review

following the April 26, 2010, published opinion of the Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District, holding that John lacks standing to challenge the denial of his parents' Welfare and Institutions Code section 388 modification petition for placement of K. into their home. A copy of the opinion is attached hereto as Appendix "A".

Pursuant to rule 8.500(b)(1) of the California Rules of Court, review is urged to secure uniformity of decision²

ISSUE PRESENTED

What is the proper scope of the showing that a parent's interests have been injuriously affected in order for a parent to have appellate standing to challenge the denial of relative placement where the permanency hearing is pending? The Fifth Appellate District, in this opinion, holds that the parent must show that his interests *are* injuriously affected by the court's decision, not that the parent's interest theoretically might be affected. (Slip Opn. p. 10.) While the published decisions rendered in the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, in *In re H.G.* (2006) 146 Cal.App.4th 1, 10 (*H.G.*) and *In re Esperanza C.* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1042, 1054 (*Esperanza C.*) recognized

Hereinafter all statutory references are to the California Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise stated.

Hereinafter all rule references are to the California Rules of Court.

that placement of a child with a relative has the potential to alter the juvenile court's determination of the child's best interests and the appropriate permanency plan for that child, and may affect a parent's interest in his or her legal status with respect to the child, therefore the parent has standing to challenge the order denying relative placement.

NECESSITY FOR REVIEW

John urges review under the rule 8.500(b)(1) criteria to secure uniformity of decision regarding the proper scope of the showing that a parent's interests have been injuriously affected in order for a parent to have appellate standing to challenge the denial of relative placement where the permanency hearing is pending. The instant opinion, sought to be reviewed here, conflicts with the published decisions rendered in the Fourth Appellate District, Division One, in *In re H.G.* (2006) 146 Cal.App.4th 1, 9-10 (*H.G.*) and *In re Esperanza C.* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1042, 1054 (*Esperanza C.*).

As this issue has been addressed in a conflicting manner in several published opinions, it requires this court's guidance to ensure the correct and uniform construction of the statutory framework regarding standing of parents to challenge the denial of relative placements.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

John C. is the father of seven boys however; only K. is the subject of

this appeal.

K., was removed from his mother's custody at month of age, by the Kings County Human Services Agency [Agency] because he was present in the mother's car during when the oldest son jumped from the car and committed suicide. (1 C.T. 12-14.) At the time, the older boys [except the deceased child] were dependents of the Tulare County juvenile court and placed with the paternal grandparents, Mary and Leo C., with a permanent plan of adoption. (2 C.T. 388, 414.) Both the Tulare County Adoption Agency social worker assigned to K.'s five siblings, as well as the Tulare County adoptions social worker assigned to conduct the home study for the paternal grandparents, testified the grandparents were appropriate to adopt infant K., and fully capable of meeting his needs--they would place K. in the grandparents home if he were under the control of the Tulare County "without reservation." (7 R.T. 808-810; 815, 824-837.)

The grandmother and John C. both appeared at K.'s detention hearing and requested that K. be placed in the paternal grandparents' home with K.'s full siblings. (1 R.T. 8.) At the disposition, the Agency had not completed the home study for the relative placement in the neighboring county, but reunification services were denied for the parents for their failure to reunify with the older children. (2 C.T. 473; 2 R.T. 107-108, 112.) The grandparents

again requested custody. (2 R.T. 107-108.)

Pending the selection and implementation hearing, the Agency assessed the grandparents' home as meeting the standards for relative placement, but nonetheless declined to place K. with his grandparents; the grandparents filed a grievance notice within days of learning about the denial. (3 R.T. 304-305; 8 R.T. 1057-1058.) However, days after receiving the grandparent's grievance notice, the Agency placed K. into another foster home which planned to adopt K., without notice to John or his parents. (2 C.T. 548-714.)

On April 16, 2009, John's parents filed a section 388 modification petition requesting the court to modify its order placing K. into licensed foster care and order that K. be placed in the grandparents home, so they could provide a permanent home for K. with his five siblings. (3 C.T. 729.) John joined the petition. (5 R.T. 511; 8 R.T. 1098.)

After a contested hearing, the court denied the placement requested by the section 388 petition, found by clear and convincing evidence that K. was adoptable, selected adoption as the permanent plan and terminated John's parental rights. (8 R.T. 1130-1131.)

John timely appealed on August 27, 2009. (4 C.T. 1045-1046S.)

REVIEW IS NEEDED TO SECURE UNIFORMITY OF DECISION REGARDING THE SCOPE OF THE SHOWING REQUIRED FOR A PARENT TO ASSERT HIS INTEREST IN CHALLENGING THE DENIAL OF RELATIVE PLACEMENT WHERE THE PERMANENCY PLANNING HEARING IS PENDING

John petitions for review of the Court of Appeal's published decision that holds: "A parent does not have appellate standing to challenge an order denying a relative placement request once a permanency planning hearing is pending unless the parent can show his or her interest in the child's companionship, custody, management and care is, rather than may be, "injuriously affected" by the court's decision." (Slip Opn. p. 7.)

The Court of Appeal opinion recognized that its sister court had "articulated a broader view of a parent's interest" in the denial of relative placement. (Slip Opn. p. 5.) While agreeing that "a parent retains a fundamental interest in the child's companionship, custody, management and care until parental rights are terminated," the Fifth Appellate District Court of Appeal respectfully disagreed with the holding that a parent is aggrieved by a decision that has the "potential" to or "may affect" the parent's interest. (Slip Opn. pp. 6, 9-10.)

John urges this court to grant review in this matter to secure uniformity of decision among the California Courts of Appeal- - the current state of the

law, provides a parent in the dependency system in Southern California a right to be heard regarding decisions which significantly impact his "fundamental interest in the child's companionship, custody, management and care" until parental rights are terminated. But a similarly situated parent in the dependency system governed by the Fifth Appellate District is denied that important right to be heard on the merits.

John asserts that the best interests of the child are always enhanced by a full and fair hearing on the merits when the juvenile court is grappling with decisions which will affect the child for the rest of its life, and similarly, by a full and fair review of the merits on appeal. In this case, young K. has been denied the right to have a relationship with his full, biological brothers and his loving extended family- - due to what John contends, was an arbitrary and wrongfully rendered decision of the juvenile court. Yet the decision will evade meaningful review, because the grandparents untimely filed their Notice of Appeal, and John has been denied standing to be heard on the merits. (Slip Opn. pp. 4, 10.)

"It is a well established policy that, since the right of appeal is remedial in character, our law favors hearings on the merits when such can be accomplished without doing violence to applicable rules. Accordingly in doubtful cases the right to appeal should be granted." (*Lee v. Brown* (1976)

18 Cal.3d 110, 113.) And further, the Code of Civil Procedure, "section 902 is a remedial statute, which should be 'liberally construed,' with 'any doubts resolved in favor of the right to appeal." *Ajida Technologies, Inc. v. Roos Instruments, Inc.* (2001) 87 Cal.App.4th 534, 540.)

John argues that the issue of his standing to challenge the denial of his parents' placement request should be liberally construed and doubts resolved in favor of his right to appeal. (*In re H.G.* (2006) 146 Cal.App.4th 1, 9; *In re Valerie A.* (2007) 152 Cal. App. 4th 987, 999; *In re Esperanza C.* (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1042, 1053.) This is consistent with the general rule is that a parent who is an aggrieved party may appeal a judgment in a juvenile dependency matter, and to be aggrieved, "a party must have a legally cognizable immediate and substantial interest which is injuriously affected by the court's decision" which is more than a "nominal interest or remote consequence of the ruling." (*In re Carissa G.* (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 731, 734.)

To recognize John's standing to challenge the denial of his parents' request to have K. placed in their home, is in keeping with "California's strong public policy favoring the facilitation of family reunification" through placement relative caregivers that "presumably has a broader interest in family unity, is more likely than a stranger to be supportive of the parent-child

relationship." (In re Joseph T. (2008) 163 Cal.App.4th 787, 797-798.)

Thus, the denial of the paternal grandparents' section 388 modification petition requesting custody directly impacts John's future relationship with his son. The Court of Appeal opinion focused solely on John's legal relationship with his son in determining that John failed to show his interests were "injuriously affected" by the juvenile court's ruling. (Slip Opn. p. 10.) But John argues that while his legal parental rights would be terminated by K.'s adoption by the paternal grandparents, John would still have the legal relationship of "uncle" with his son.

And practically, if not legally, K.'s placement with John's parents under the permanent plan of adoption, gives John has the *opportunity* to visit and have a relationship with his son, contingent on John's appropriate behavior and lifestyle. (7 R.T. 875,885, 868.) Conversely, if K. is adopted by the current foster placement, there is no potential for a future relationship with John, his parents or K's full-blooded brothers. (3 C.T. 755-756.) John disagrees with the Court of Appeal opinion to the contrary and asserts he has an "immediate and substantial interest" which has been adversely affected by the juvenile court's denial of placement with the paternal family. (Slip Opn. p. 10.)

Conclusion

Review is necessary, under the rule 8.500(b)(1) criteria to secure

uniformity of decision where the Fifth Appellate District has improperly

restricted the scope of the parent's standing to challenge the denial of relative

placement and this decision conflicts with other published Court of Appeal

opinions in the State of California. Thus, review is necessary in this matter to

ensure a correct and uniform construction of the application of the procedural

framework and to settle this important question of law. (People v. Davis

(1905) 147 Cal. 346, 358; Howard Jarvis Taxpayers Assn. v. City of La Habra

(2001) 25 Cal.4th 809.) Review is made more urgent based upon the

published status of this opinion.