No. S183320



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

In the Matter of K.C., a minor.

KINGS COUNTY HUMAN SERVICES AGENCY, Plaintiff and Respondent,

SUPREME COURT FILED

v.

JUN 2 4 2010

J.C.,
Defendant and Appellant.

Frederick K. Ohlrich Clark
Deputy

After a Decision by the Fifth District Court of Appeal Appellate Case No. F058395

On Appeal from the Superior Court for the County of Kings, The Honorable George Orndoff, Judge Superior Court Case No. 08JD0075

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

COLLEEN CARLSON, No. 203120
Kings County Counsel
JOHANNAH HARTLEY, No. 253914
Deputy County Counsel
County Government Center
1400 West Lacey Blvd., Law Bldg. No. 4
Hanford, CA 93230

INTRODUCTION

In this juvenile dependency case, the father J.C. (hereinafter "Petitioner") seeks review of a published decision of the California Court of Appeal, Fifth Appellate District holding that he lacked standing to appeal the denial of the grandparent's request for placement of the child K.C. Respondent Kings County Human Services Agency respectfully submits that the Fifth District's opinion should not be reviewed nor reversed in that it soundly addresses the issue of standing and applies well established legal principles in determining that the father, who was not receiving reunification services¹ and had minimal contact with the child, was not injuriously affected by denial of the grandparents request for placement of the child and therefore lacked standing.

The Petition for Review should be denied.

Based on findings made per Welfare and Institutions Code section 361.5(b)(10, 11 & 13).

ISSUE PRESENTED

I. Does a parent who is not receiving reunification services have standing to challenge the denial of a grandparent's Welfare and Institutions Code section 388 request for placement of the child?

COMBINED STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

The Court of Appeal's decision accurately recites the procedural and underlying facts. (*In re K.C.* (2010) 184 Cal.App.4th 120, 122-24 ("*In re K.C.*"); Slip Opn., pp. 2-4.) In short, the child K.C. was removed from his parents' care approximately one month after birth pursuant to Welfare and Institutions Code section 300, subdivisions (b) and (j), because of the parents' substance abuse and domestic violence which had previously resulted in the removal of K.C.'s six siblings.² (*In re K.C.* at 122; Slip Opn., p. 2.) Additionally, the child K.C. was a passenger in a car driven by his mother when his older brother, a runaway Tulare County dependant, jumped out of the moving vehicle and subsequently died. (1 CT 0014-16, 0028.) Reunification services were bypassed for both the mother and father based on Section 361.5, subdivisions (b)(10), (11) and (13). (*In re K.C.* at 122; Slip Opn., p. 2.)

During the course of the dependency proceedings, the paternal grandparents requested placement of K.C. and the Kings County Human Services Agency (hereinafter "Agency") completed the Placement Assessment for Relatives on the paternal grandparents' behalf. (*In re K.C.* at 122; Slip Opn., p. 2.) Although the Agency determined that the paternal grandparents' home met the basic requirements for licensing pursuant to Section 361.4, after granting an exemption for the paternal grandfather's criminal history, the placement request was denied. (*Id.*; 3 CT 0559; 8 RT

All further statutory references are to the California Welfare and Institutions Code unless otherwise indicated.

1070.) The Agency determined that the home did not meet the requirements under Section 361.3 in assessing K.C.'s best interest for numerous reasons including the paternal grandparents' inability to meet K.C.'s needs because of the demands of caring for five children under the age of eleven with varying emotional and behavioral problems, history of neglecting children with special needs, demonstrated inability to protect children from obvious threats, and lack of diligence in developing a relationship with K.C. (3 CT 0562-0577.)

The paternal grandparents' filed a Section 388 petition requesting placement of the child K.C. with the goal of adoption. (*In re K.C.* at 123; Slip Opn., p. 3.) The paternal grandparents were in the process of adopting five of K.C.'s siblings, dependants in Tulare County, who had each displayed behavioral or emotional problems ranging from bed wetting and hoarding food to post traumatic stress disorder. (*Id.*; See 3 CT 0562-0577.) The paternal grandparents had a long history of interacting with child protective services and law enforcement regarding the parents' substance abuse and domestic violence while the family resided on their property and in their home. (*Id.*) Additionally, another grandchild with a history of mental health issues and suicidal tendencies attempted suicide at the paternal grandparents' home by overdosing on the paternal grandfather's easily accessible diabetes medication. (*Id.*)

A hearing pursuant to Section 388 and Section 366.26 was held on August 20-21, 2009. On August 21, 2009, the juvenile court denied the paternal grandparents' Section 388 petition and proceeded to terminate parental rights. (*In re K.C.* at 123; Slip Opn., p. 3.)

The father J.C. filed a notice of appeal with the Kings County Superior Court on August 27, 2009, challenging both the denial of the paternal grandparents' Section 388 petition and the termination of his parental rights. (*Id.*; 4 CT 1037-1038.) The paternal grandparents filed a

cross-appeal from the denial of their Section 388 petition on November 4, 2009, which was assigned a separate appellate case number, F058868. The paternal grandparents' cross-appeal was dismissed for being untimely. (*In re K.C.* at 123 n.2; Slip Opn., p. 4 n.2.) The Court of Appeals for the Fifth Appellate District held that the father J.C. lacked standing to appeal the denial of the grandparents' Section 388 request for placement.

ARGUMENT

I. THE COURT OF APPEAL'S OPINION DOES NOT MEET THE CRITERIA FOR REVIEW BY THIS COURT.

It is a well established legal principal that to have standing to appeal a court's decision a person must have rights that suffer injury. (County of Alameda v. Carleson (1971) 5 Cal.3d 730; See generally Baker v. Carr (1962) 369 U.S. 186, 204; Cal. Welf. & Inst. Code § 395(a)(1); Cal. Civ. Pro. Code § 902.) To be considered an "aggrieved party" entitled to review of a court's ruling on the merits the party "must have a legally cognizable immediate and substantial interest which is injuriously affected by the court's decision." (In re Carissa G. (1999) 76 Cal.App.4th 731, 734.) A parent in a dependency case has standing to raise issues affecting his or her interest in the parent-child relationship. (In re Patricia E. (1985) 174 Cal.App.3d 1, 6 (overruled in part by In re Celine R. (2003) 31 Cal.4th 45).) However, a "parent cannot raise issues on appeal which do not affect his or her own rights. That is, a parent's interest is in reunification." (In re Devin M. (1997) 58 Cal. App. 4th 1538, 1541 (citing In re Jasmine J. (1996) 46 Cal.App.4th 1802, 1806-1808).) Furthermore, "Appellant's interest must be immediate, pecuniary, and substantial and not nominal or a remote consequence of the judgment." (County of Alameda v. Carleson (1971) 5 Cal.3d 730, 737 (quotation omitted).)

In applying these general principles the Court of Appeals for the Fifth Appellate District in K.C. used a two-part test to determine that the father was not aggrieved by a Juvenile Court order denying placement of the child with the grandparents. First, the Court examined whether the parent had a legally cognizable interest, which the father did. (*In re K.C.* at 125-6; Slip Opn., pp. 5-6.)³ Second, the Court examined whether the parent's interest was injuriously affected by the Juvenile Court's decision, which it was not. (*In re K.C.* at 126-8; Slip Opn., pp. 7-10.) Based on the Court's adherence to the well established legal rules of standing review is not warranted under Rule of Court 8.500(b)(1).

Petitioner relies on the case of *In re Esperanza C*. (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1042, to establish a split of authority on the issue of standing necessitating appellate review to secure uniformity of decision. (Petition for Review, pp. 3, 7.) However, the Third District previously decided in *Cesar V*. that a parent not receiving reunification services lacks standing to appeal the denial of placement with a relative. (*In re Cesar V*. (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1023, 1035.) Furthermore, several districts have limited a parent's right to appeal in dependency cases establishing that a parent's primary interest is in reunification services and not in the relationship of the child with his or her siblings or grandparents. (*In re Devin M*. (1997) 58 Cal.App.4th 1538; See also *In re Vanessa Z*. (1994) 23 Cal.App.4th 258, 261 (father may not challenge denial of defacto status to his relatives); *In re Gary P*. (1995) 40 Cal.App.4th 875, 876-77 (mother appealing from termination of her parental rights had no standing to raise issues affecting the grandmother's interests in contact with the minors).)

In *In re Cesar V.* (2001) 91 Cal.App.4th 1023, the father and paternal grandmother sought extraordinary review of the Juvenile Court order denying placement with the paternal grandmother. The father's

³ Should this Court grant review, Respondent respectfully requests, though its framing of the issue, that standing as a whole be considered. (Cal. Rules of Court, Rule 8.500(a)(2).)

reunification services were terminated and at the Section 366.26 hearing the father challenged the agency's denial of placement of his children with their paternal grandmother. (*Id.* at 1026.) The father filed a Section 388 petition regarding the suitability of the paternal grandmother for placement which was denied without hearing. (*Id.* at 1030.) In regards to standing, the Court stated that the father "has no standing to appeal the relative placement preference issue. Especially in light of his stipulation to terminate reunification services, we cannot see how the denial of placement with [the paternal grandmother] affects his interest in reunification with the children." (*Id.* at 1035.) The Court, however, found that the issue was properly before the Court because the paternal grandmother had also sought extraordinary review from the order denying her placement. (*Id.*)

In *In re Esperanza C*. (2008) 165 Cal.App.4th 1042, the Court held that the mother and child who each filed Section 388 petitions regarding placement had standing to challenge the agency's placement decision. Both Section 388 petitions requested that the child be placed with a greatuncle who had been denied placement based on his criminal history and the lack of an agency issued exemption. (*Id.* at 1050.) In determining that the mother and child had standing to appeal denial of their Section 388 petitions the Court noted the parent "retains a fundamental interest in his or her child's companionship, custody, management and care" until parental rights are terminated because "placement of a child with a relative had the potential to alter the Juvenile Court's determination of the child's best interest and the appropriate permanency plan for that child, and may affect a parent's interest in his or her legal status with respect to the child." (*Id.* at 1053-1054.)

Similar to Cesar V., reunification services were bypassed for the father and the bypass recommendation was not contested by the father or his counsel. Unlike Esperanza C., the father did not file his own Section

388 petition and the paternal grandfather was granted a criminal exemption, thus allowing the home to be approved from a licensing standard. Furthermore, all parties recognized the likelihood that the child would be adopted and the paternal grandparents indicated they were willing to adopt K.C. Therefore, the father's legal status toward the child would remain unchanged based on the child's placement and he was not injuriously affected by the Juvenile Court's decision.

CONCLUSION

The Fifth District correctly applied the well established rules of standing when holding that Petitioner did not have standing to contest the denial of the paternal grandparents' Section 388 request for placement of the minor K.C. For all these reasons, Respondent respectfully requests that this Court deny the Petition for Review.